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MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And is it your perspective that the board

itself is adequately informed with respect the consequences of

pleading guilty and the defenses they might have had to assert

in connection with this case?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, we're turning to the information

itself as to which you are, I gather, prepared to plea on

behalf of the corporation; and it has two basic structural

elements: One is an introduction violation of the law that

bars an introduction in interstate commerce of a misbranding

drug, and the allegation here is that the corporation, with the

intent to defraud and mislead, deliver for introduction, and

cause the introduction into interstate commerce, in

Massachusetts and elsewhere, quantities of Bextra, which is a

drug within the meaning of the federal Food, Drug & Cosmetic

Act, that was intended for the treatment of acute pain,

surgical pain, and other unapproved uses, and did so at

unapproved dosages.

You understand what the government is basically saying

is that you promoted this as an off-label drug.

MR. GIBNE?: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: That is not your capacity, that is the

corporation's capacity; doctors can do that, but you can't do

that.
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MR. GIENEY: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand that's what the government

is accusing you of in connection with this.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes.

THE COURT: And they're saying that you not only did

that, you lacked -- you failed to provide adequate directions

for these off-label uses as well.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, you understand that this has

to have been something that was done knowingly and willfully by

the corporation. We talked a bit earlier about the fact that

individuals have to do it, but basically, without getting into

the fine points of what the law is in the ist Circuit, it's

very broad; and basically an individual acting on behalf of the

corporation who undertakes to, in the course of his employment

or her employment, to engage in a criminal violation makes the

corporation exposed to the violation. Do you understand that?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: You've had a full discussion, I take it,

with -- that is, the corporation has, with your counsel about

whether or not the ist Circuit view with respect to corporate

responsibility is durable in the sense that a revisiting by

judges, I guess it would be about 25 years later, from New

England, Bank of New England, is likely to stand up. I take it

you've had discussions about whether or not you could challenge
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it under these circumstances.

MR. GISNEY: I have, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. And there's been a full ventilation

of the various kinds of defenses that you would have had to

this offense as charged; is that correct?

NR. GIENEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, in addition, there are forfeiture

allegations that require you to provide to the government any

of the misbranded product or the substitution for that

misbranded product, I think.

MR. O!CONNOR: It's page 20, yes.

THE COURT: You see that part; that is, you're giving

up what it is that you produced.

MR. O'CONNOR: You're focusing him on the allegations

right now.

THE COURT: Yes, just on the allegations.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, you Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, this is something that leads

to potentially very heavy penalties in this case, or in any

case, but it's recited in the plea agreement. I take it that

you're fully familiar with the plea agreement dated August 31,

2009.

MR. GIBNEY: That's correct.

THE COURT: And in that plea agreement you face

maximum fines of $500,000 or twice the gross gain derived from
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the offense, or, alternatively, twice the gross loss to a

person who was presumably victimized, whichever is the

greatest. Here the parties have prepared and reached a

conclusion that it's $664 million, that's the gross gain that

you have here. But you understand that's what the calculation

is.

NR. GIBNEY: I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Using that calculation, the maximum fine

here, because there are various kinds of calculations under the

sentencing guidelines, could be. $1,328,000,000 in this case.

MR. GIBNEY: I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: And you stipulated to a proposed fine

that's slightly less than that, slight haircut of

$1,195,000,000.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand that's all driven by the

determination whether or not this calculation that I ran

through with Ms. Bloom is a reasonable one under these

circumstances. It might well be that someone would say 65

percent is a round figure but not adequately tethered to the

actualities of the marketplace; it might be higher. And if it

were higher, it would be a heavier sentence. Do you understand

that?

MR. GIBNEY: I do.

THE COURT: But you're pleading guilty to this
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i particular plea agreement; is that right?

2 NR. GIBNEY: That's correct, your Honor.

3 THE COURT: Understanding that I may reject that plea.

4 MR. GIBNEY: I do, your Honor.

5 THE COURT: Okay. Now, in addition, the statute

6 provides for a term of probation. We had a little discussion,

7 Ms. Bloom and I, about probation under these circumstances, and

8 the suggestion that there's an alternative mechanism that is

9 fully as effective as probation for this corporation, which I

10:47 lO gather is effectively defunct, and deals with the corporate

11 parent, who is trying to resolve all of these matters. But you

12 understand that probation is a possibility in this case.

13 MR. GIENEY: I do, your Honor.

14 THE COURT: And you understand as well that there's a

15 special assessment that has to be imposed in this case of $400.

16 MR. GIBNEY: I do.

17 THE COURT: Now, there is, as we discussed, this

18 problem, potentially, for forfeiture, and the agreed-upon plea

19 is $105 million of forfeiture in this case, meaning that the

10:48 20 out of cost -- out of pocket to your corporation is

21 $1,200, 000, 400.

22 MR. GIBNEY: Forfeiture?

23 MR. O'CONNOR: Your Honor, would you please state that

24 again? I think you said 1.2 million plus the special

25 assessment.
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THE COURT: Right.

MR. O'CONNOR: I think overall it's 1.3 billion.

THE COURT: I'm sorry.

MR. O'CONNOR: Plus the 400.

THE COURT: Million here, million there, gets lost

after a while.

MR. GIBNEY: I'm sorry.

THE COURT: I'd love to be able to say that I was

testing you but I wasn't, I was mistaken.

10:48 MR. GIBNEY: Can you repeat?

11 THE COURT: Yes, sure.

12 MR. GIENEY: Thank you.

13 THE COURT: You've got a proposed fine of

14 $1,195,000,000. You have forfeiture of $105 million, and, of

15 course, you have $400 special assessment. And so that comes

16 out to, out of pocket to the corporation, $1.3 billion -- I'll

17 say, $1,300,000,400.

18 MR. GIENEY: Yes, your Honor.

19 THE COURT: You understand that's what you're facing

10:49 20 under these circumstances.

21 MR. GIBNEY: I do.

22 THE COURT: Part of this is based on calculations of

23 the sentencing guidelines. You understand that.

24 MR. GIENEY: I do.

25 THE COURT: And those sentencing guidelines generate a
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variety of different approaches to this, including the

culpability level. And I use the culpability level in this

context because, according to the agreement of the parties, the

culpability could be anywhere between 1.6 as a multiplier or

3.2. And but for the statutory maximum, if we use the 3.2

multiplier, we'd be talking about a fine of $2,124,800,000.

You understand that.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: So if, for example, this were to be

recalculated in terms of what the actual cost -- actual gain

was, that is, if I were not to accept the actual gain that the

parties have agreed upon, we could be generating a much higher

fine in these circumstances, even using whatever the discount

is that was used from the maximum fine here by the parties.

You understand that.

MR. GIBNEY: I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, one of the discussions that I

had with the parties, Ms. Bloom in particular, maybe it wasn't

a discussion, it was just an announcement, is this question of

waiver of rights 6f appeal or to bring a collateral challenge.

And it's been my practice to inquire very deeply into whether

or not a party understands that what means.

This is paragraph 7 or section 7. And in my

experience, nobody but lawyers understands what that means, and

I have my own views about a sovereign seeking that kind of

1

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10:50 lO

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

10:51 20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 1:10-cv-03864-AKH   Document 392-8   Filed 12/18/14   Page 32 of 65



Case 1:09-cr-10258-DPW Document 13 Filed 09/21/09 Page 32 of 64
32

provision, particularly when it's not prepared to be subject to

the same provision itself. Because you can see here that the

government doesn't give up its right to appeal, but you do.

But I take it you've had an adequate opportunity to

discuss with your counsel what the prospects of an appeal would

be upon the acceptance of a plea such as this.

MR. GIBNEY: I have.

THE COURT: And you fully ventilated with them what

you likely would get out of an appeal or not get.

MR. GIBNEY: I have.

THE COURT: And the prospects of some sort of

collateral attack, challenge to the judgment in this case; is

that right?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, the parties have also in their agreed

disposition made an argument, it's not so much an agreed

disposition as an argument in paragraph D, but I think it's

important to lay it out on the record so that I understand that

you agree that this is the proper resolution of the case. It's

paragraph 4 D or section 4 D in the agreed disposition. And it

reads as follows: In light of the pending civil action, which

is the qui tam case, and I should -- Kopchinski case, and I

should make clear that for a period of time as an

administrative responsibility ITve been dealing with the qui

tam cases and dealing ex-parte with the government on the qui
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tam cases to make sure that they're moving along promptly and

consistently with the statute. So I'm somewhat familiar with

the qui tam matters, although I'm not familiar in the

fundamental sense of the judge who had ruled on some

substantive matter. But in light of that civil action, and I

guess the related actions, in the civil agreement between

Pfizer, that is, the parent of the defendant here, and the

United States relating to the civil action, which is being

signed contemporaneously with this plea agreement and it is

attached to it as Exhibit B, which requires the payment of a

million dollars, plus interest, and in light of the October 17,

2008 agreements in principle reached by Pfizer resolving

substantially all personal injury and class action cases

alleging that Pfizer's pain medication Bextra was the cause of

injury, it appears that a prodess is in place under which all

identifiable victims will have the opportunity to be fully

recompensed.

Now, I understand in my conversation I had with

Mr. O'connor that there is potentially a legal dispute whether

they are victims for purposes of Victim Protection Act, but

they're treated as potential victims under these circumstances.

What that means is you've added another million

dollars to resolution of the outstanding legal disputes --

MR. O'CONNOR: Your Honor, just to correct you,

billion. I know it's hard to say, but billion.
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THE COURT: I don't want to make a plea for the pay

raises for federal judges, but we deal in smaller numbers.

But a billion dollars. But that's what you're doing

to sue for peace on all fronts with respect to Bextra. You've

got the resolution of class actions and certain personal injury

cases. You got this criminal case for $1.3 billion and some

change, and you got the civil fine that you're paying or

basically civil settlement that you're paying under the qui tam

or false claims cases; is that correct?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Now, the agreed disposition goes on

to argue the private payor victims will have been recompensed

from the agreements in principle reached by Pfizer with the

personal injury plaintiffs, and the loss suffered by the

federal program victims will be recompensed through the federal

settlement amount as defined in the settlement agreement. And

there I had a discussion with Ms. Bloom about how they got to

that figure. It's referred to here as federal program victims,

but it extends to the state program victims as well.

So the government is agreeing not to seek some sort of

separate restitution order as to Pharmacia as part of the

resolution of the information. The parties agree that the

appropriate disposition of this case does not include a

restitution order. The parties further agree that any attempt

to further affect restitution would unduly complicate and
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prolong the sentencing to the degree that the benefit to any

future further victims would outwéigh the burden on a

sentencing process under the federal sentencing laws.

Now, what that, I guess, is saying is that the parties

will resist if victims come forward and ask for some sort of

restitution, me allocating that restitution, or denying or

saying I'm not going to accept the plea agreement because

there's restitution that has to be paid. That's what you've

agreed to; is that right?

NR. GIENEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, you understand you don't have to

plead guilty at all here. There is in the plea agreement a

potential, recognized potential that I'm going to deny this

plea, or not accept the plea, and really it's the law of

excluded middle, either I accept or I reject it. If I reject

it, there's the possibility you're going to be facing actual

criminal prosecution by the government. There's reserved in

the plea agreement the prospect of the government doing that,

but you've given up in that plea agreement certain defenses

which you would have if the government pursued, had they

pursued it in a timely fashion, six months, something like

that.

But you understand in all of this you don't have to

plead guilty at all. Even a corporation has the benefit of the

Constitution in this regard. That is to say, that a person or
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an entity accused of a crime is presumed innocent unless and

until the government proves beyond a reasonable doubt each

essential element of the offense charged against that entity in

this case.

So what that means is that you're in a position to

look the government straight in the eye and say "prove it."

And unless and until they do, you can't be found guilty and you

can't be held to pay this kind of very substantial penalty.

You understand by pleading guilty you're giving up that right.

MR. GIBNEY: I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: And you understand that you have the right

as well to challenge the government's case. That is to say,

you could, through your counsel, cross-examine the government's

witnesses; you could bring in witnesses on your own behalf. If

they wouldn't come in here voluntarily, I'd give you court

process to bring them in. All of those kinds of trial-related

matters you're giving up by pleading guilty. Essentially,

you're not going to be in a position to contest it. You

understand that?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: I have to make the determination on the

basis of whether or not I find that there's substantial

evidence from which a finder of fact can find you guilty of the

offense charged. When I say you, you as the representative of

the corporation, guilty of the offense charged. And so I'm
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going to ask Ms. Bloom or Ms. Poswistillo to teli me what the

evidence would be if the case were to go to trial. You're

going to listen very carefully, Mr. O'connor is going to listen

very carefully, so am I, and when they're through, I'm going to

turn to you first and say, Do you dispute any of that? Do you

say any of that is not true? Do you understand?

MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Bloom or Ms. Poswistillo

MS. BLOOM: Thank you, your Honor.

Had this case gone to trial, the government would have

expected to offer the following evidence, among others: That

with respect to the drug Bextra, Pharmacia and its related

entities sought FDA approval in 2001 for several uses,

including the treatment of signs and symptoms of arthritis and

for the treatment of acute pain. That they sought approval for

dosages of 10, 20, and 40 milligrams. That the FDA approved

the product on November 16, 2001 only for two uses: The

treatment of the signs and symptoms of arthritis,

osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, and the pain of

primary dysmenorrhea, or menstrual cramps. And it approved it

only at the dosages of 10 milligrams for arthritis and 20

milligrams up to twice a day for primary dysmenorrhea.

The government would also expect to show that in

reaching this conclusion, the FDA informed Pharmacia of its

reasons for not approving Bextra for general acute pain or for
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the higher dosages or for the other uses requested, which

included to reduce the use of morphine during surgery or

pre-approved operative prevention of surgical pain. And that

those reasons included some very specific safety concerns about

the use of Bextra at higher dosages and in the surgical

setting, including based on a study of the use of Bextra in

coronary artery bypass graft surgery where the study had used

Bextra and an injectable form of Bextra, parecoxib, and had

shown an increase in cardiovascular thromboembolic events,

w&re talking primarily heart attacks, in that study in the

parecoxib Bextra arm.

Among the other things, the FDA also cited apparent

increase of hypertension and edema in the higher dosages use of

Bextra. Based on a number of issues, both concerned with

Cox-2s and Bextra, in particular, at that point the FDA

declined at that time to approve Bextra for acute pain,

surgical pain, or the sparing of use of opioids during surgery.

The evidence would show that, nonetheless, from the

time that Bextra was launched in approximately February 2002

and continuing to greater or lesser degree when it was on the

market until April of 2005, Pharmacia, and then as it was

acquired as part of Pfizer, promoted Bextra for the very uses

that the FDA had declined to approve it: For acute pain, for

surgical pain, for prevention of surgical pain and for

reduction of the use of morphine; promoted it for the use,

Case 1:09-cr-10258-DPW Document 13 Filed 09/21/09 Page 38 of 64
38

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11:01 10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

11:02 20

21

22

23

24

25

Case 1:10-cv-03864-AKH   Document 392-8   Filed 12/18/14   Page 39 of 65



Case 1:09-cr-10258-DPW Document 13 Filed 09/21/09 Page 39 of 64
39

:ì higher dosage use than the 10 milligrams for surgical pain and

2 for arthritis; and did so without disclosing to those to whom

3 it was promoting it the safety issues that the FDA had raised

4 and which would be critical to anyone considering using it in

5 such an off-label way.

G I'm just going to try and highlight some of the ways

7 in which the company did this, and let ¡ne just explain that

8 Pharmacia was originally one of the subsidiaries -- Pharmacia

9 and Upjohn, Inc. was a subsidiary of Upjohn Corporation.

11:03 10 Pharmacia and Pfizer co-promoted Bextra, as they did

li Celebrex, from before the time of its launch -- and this was a

12 truly joint effort to the point where most of the documents

13 from the planning and the marketing have both the Pharmacia and

14 the Pfizer logo on every page.

15 THE COURT: Was this a licensing agreement before the

16 acquisition?

17 NS. BLOOM: Yes. Yes. So it was, I think, a joint

18 marketing agreement. I don't know all of the details, which

19 actually dated back, because they co-promoted Celebrex as well,

11:03 20 dated back into the '90s. And then in April of 2003 Pharmacia

21 was acquired by Pfizer, so then it was co-promoted as one

22 entity. And the conduct continued during both time periods.

23 The conduct emanated from headquarters planning and

24 marketing documents. There was a marketing department in both

25 Pharmacia and Pfizer that created the strategy and messaging,
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and the documents from that marketing department reflect

creating marketing materials to create the intended method of

use of Bextra for acute pain. They show repeated testing of

the marketing material to determine whether the physicians were

getting the message to use Bextra for acute pain. They show

surveys of the sales representatives to determine whether, in

fact, they were making the distinction to use Bextra for acute

pain. And just as a little bit of an explanation, because they

were also promoting Celebrex, which was a Cox-2 as well, very

similar to Bextra, and which was considered at the time more of

the gentle drug, and therefore, for the chronic pain, the

effort was to position Bextra for the powerful, acute pain

market so as to capture the whole pain market. And in between

the launch of Celebrex and Bextra there had been the launch of

Vioxx, which had been very effective in capturing the acute

pain market, or a portion of the acute pain market.

So there was headquarters planning. It was carried

out through the field sales force across the country. The

evidence showed that this occurred both in the sales

representatives1 individual calls on the doctors, talking about

acute pain and surgical pain, all sorts of pain, thereTs all

sorts of pain, rather than limiting it to arthritis.

It occurred through a strategy of trying to draft for

physicians their standing orders going into surgery or the

hospital-wide system for handling pain. So that the sales
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i representative would either create or get ahold of whatever was

2 already in existence and redraft it to include a recommendation

3 that for moderate to severe pain, for example, one use Bextra

4 or Celebrex, usually not including Vioxx as one of those

5 options, and then try to get the physician or the hospital to

6 adopt it as their standing order.

7 So this is the kind of order where if you're about to

B go into surgery, you might get a piece of paper that says wear

g loose clothing, don't drink for 24 hours, and pick up the

11:06 10 following prescriptions. They would try to make sure that

11 Pfizer's products, in particular Bextra and Celebrex, were

12 recommended on those lists, only Bextra was not approved for

13 the use for treatment of surgical pain that was at issue. For

14 the hospital-wide pathways, it would not be limitéd to

15 arthritis use, it would be for use of pain across the hospital.

16 And this would happen to the degree that sales representatives

17 would actually create this hospital-wide pathway and then work

18 with the hospital, get agreement to adopt it, copy it, laminate

19 it, put it on a trifold little card, and when the new residents

11:06 20 came in July, they would greet the new residents, provide them

21 with little trifold cards to keep in their pocket, this is how

22 your hospital deals with pain, and low and behold, in that sort

23 of cookbook how to address pain would be a recommendation to

24 use Bextra and Celebrex at the appropriate time. So that was

25 one of the strategies.
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One of the other things was that sales representatives

2 were making false and misleading claims about the safety and

3 efficacy of Bextra. These included they had no dose course

4 increase in hypertension and edema, which was directly contrary

5 to what the FDA had found in its approval. Claims about

6 efficacy and safety compared Vioxx, which either had not been

7 proven or were contrary to the known evidence. And just

B generally saying to use -- one of the things somebody would say

9 use it in replace of Vioxx, even though Vioxx had the acute

11:07 10 pain indication and Bextra did not at that point.

11 One of the other ways in which this was carried out

12 was through the distribution of samples, particularly the

13 samples of 20 milligrams dosage, which were provided. Pfizer

14 allocated about 25 percent of its creation of samples for its

15 promotional distribution were at the 20 milligram dosage even

16 thbugh, as I mentioned earlier, only one percent of the market,

17 one to three percent, would be for primary dysmenorrhea. So

18 this was a disproportional amount of samples made available at

19 20 milligram dosage; and also, primary dysmenorrhea is very

11:08 20 limited, intermittent usage, whereas arthritis, lO milligrams.

21 is very long-term usage.

22 And they were allocated sales forces who called only

23 on specialists who did not treat primary dysmenorrhea, like

24 rheumatoid arthritis specialists, orthopedists, neurologists.

25 So that sales representatives who would never call on a general
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practitioner or an OB/GYN doctor were given 20 milligram

samples to carry in their bags; thereby clearly authorizing to

them or indicating to them they should be dropping samples to

physicians who could only use it for an off-label use.

Moreover, in the carrying out of this scheme, the sales

representative did use those 20 milligram samples to encourage,

particularly surgeons and physicians, to treat acute pain, to

use that for treatment because it was stronger dosage without

the warnings that the FDA had specifically decided not to

approve it at that higher dosage.

THE COURT: Just so I'm clear and we're clear, if the

physicians had similarly taken 20 milligram tablets with their

package inserts and chosen to create an off-label use, that

would not be illegal?

MS. BLOOM: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So what we're dealing with is

aiding and abetting in which the principal is not responsible.

MS. BLOOM: I don't think so. I think we're dealing

with a difference in role here. The physician is allowed to

exercise his or het independent medical judgment to determine

if an off-label use is appropriate. The sales representative

is not exercising a medical judgment.

THE COURT: The assumption in all of this is that the

physician is either not using independent judgment or is not

using good independent judgment.
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MS. BLOOM: Well, I guess, or is somehow misled. Now,

one could argue that to ever listen to what a sales

representative is saying is not good judgment.

TRE COURT: Trust and verify I guess is what they

ought to be --

MS. BLOOM: The evidence in this case would have

included physicians who would say they would say were promoted

to off-label; that they used the product because of the

recommendation for the protocols or surgical use; that had they

known about the safety risks identified by the FDA and the fact

that the FDA had not approved it in surgical use for those

safety reasons, they would not have used on their patients, and

they felt mislead by their sales representatives in encouraging

them to use it that way and not telling them these facts.

THE COURT: So Pfizer made them do it rather than they

using their independent judgment, is that it?

MS. BLOOM: Well, I think they relied upon the

recommendations to some degree of the sales representatives.

THE COURT: Okay.

MS. BLOOM: And presumably, that is, if the sales

representatives didn't have some influence on the physicians,

presumably a company like Pfizer would not be paying them all

this money to go out and do this.

One of the other elements --

THE COURT: But the reason in all of this culpable
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party that is insulated from criminal prosecution for this kind

of activity, which is to go back to my analogy to the aider and

abettor who is guilty, potentially guilty without a principal

that can be held.

MS. BLOOM: Well, I'm not sure that I agree that

that's a fair way to look at the physicians' role here, while

one would argue a physician would not be influenced by any of

this. I think --

THE COURT: The distribution is through the

physicians, it's not like a grey market in these drugs.

MS. BLOOM: Correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: So there is in the process someone who has

been immunized from criminal liability, or liability -- I guess

just criminal liability would probably be a way to say it, or a

regulatory liability because they would still be exposed to

medical malpractice claims, who are being cultivated by the

defendant here. But there's a certain asymmetry, I guess, to

this.

MS. BLOOM: There is an asymmetry and there is a sense

that the company may not promote to the physicians for

off-label uses that the physicians may use it. And the idea is

they would be making their independent judgment as to that, but

that a company -- part of the whole FDA regulatory scheme is

that if a company has no incentive to actually seek regulatory

approval and go through the safety and efficacy tests
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necessary, then basically the whole FDA regulatory system then

doesn't hold up. But perhaps I get beyond what I need to

address.

THE COURT: I'm taking you beyond it.

MS. BLOOM: One of the other strategies, which is

somewhat relevant to this that was used was to create a -- what

the companies termed a cascade of influence to create physician

advocates. And this included holding lavish meetings, some of

them at resorts like Broadmoor or the Atlantis in the Bahamas,

despite the fact that, actually, the company's policies at the

time specifically said that they could not hold such meetings

at lavish resorts, and that the purpose of holding consulting

meetings could only be to seek advice from legitimate

consultants, not to influence them.

The company's own planning documents showed that they

were having tiers of these consultant meetings in order to

influence the attendees and then have them become speakers and

influencers in turn of other physicians across the country in

what they called an influence map. There was literally a map.

THE COURT: YouTve used two terms, "cascade" and

"influence map." Are those terms used in marketing materials?

MS. BLOOM: Yes, they are, your Honor.

And there were, I think, approximately 100 of these

meetings across the country, often 50 to 100 attendees, and

then those -- to basically educate -- including basically all
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of these meetings a presentation or multiple presentations on

the off-label uses of Bextra, Bextra for acute pain by some

other expert who had been to one of the higher-level meetings,

and then those messages were then often carried out in further

speaker events. And then also through another strategy, which

was using purported independent medical education programs, but

because the companies had now trained the speakers and, in

fact, prepared for them supposedly independent slides for them

to present at these independent medical events, using what

appeared to be an independent program, which under the

certification requirement of these independent medical programs

is required to be independent, to actually further carry out

the marketing message. And this is part, again, part of the

marketing documents is the intent to use these OMEs, continuing

medical education, programs to leverage and get out the message

of Bextra for acute pain, for surgical pain.

One of the other strategies that was used was a

process of providing medical information which was set up to

respond to physicians who asked questions, and the company is

permitted to answer a question if the question is, you know, is

this ever -- are there any studies of Be*tra for surgical pain?

The company is permitted an exercise of legitimate scientific

dialogue to give a fair and balanced answer to that, and they

have a process where a sales representative can trigger that

kind of an answer. And what was actually happening here was
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managers were directing sales representatives to send out 25 of

these letters or certain number of these letters to their top

Vioxx users to get the information about the use of Bextra for

off-label uses out to the physicians. And in fact, there were

exchanges about how to send them in small batches so they

wouldnTt trigger the review of the Pfizer system that permitted

only limited use --

THE COURT: Was Vioxx similarly limited in its uses?

MS. BLOOM: No, your Honor, it was approved for acute

pain.

THE COURT: It was an acute -- approved broadly

for the off-label uses that Pharmacia was attempting to use it

for.

MS. BLOOM: That's generally correct, your Honor.

Just one other strategy that was used in promoting

Bextra for unapproved uses was a publication strategy, and this

was a strategy to actually have a planning and initiate

articles about the use of Bextra for off-label uses and hire

vendors to draft initial outlines or articles and then seek out

authors to participate in and lend their names to those

articles without actually disclosing appropriately the roles

that Pfizer/Pharmacia were playing in creating these articles

and possibly in doing the data analysis and the conclusions.

The evidence would have shown that there were

employees in the company who knew that this was wrong and did
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it anyway and knew it was illegal, so that this is not just a

Bank of New England theory here. This was knowing and local

conduct by employees.

There is also evidence that employees -- that there

was a culture of managers encouraging this conduct, sometimes

it was a wink-wink, nod-nod, sometimes it was a direct order

that you must do this conduct. And that there would be

evidence that sales representatives felt it was what was known

as a CLM, or a career limiting move, to actually raise your

hand and say, Well, now, wait a second, isn't that off-label?

THE COURT: Again, CLM, career limiting move, is a

term of art within the corporation?

MS. BLOOM: We were -- it was described as a term of

art, colloquial, not in the documents that I recall.

THE COURT: But described by witnesses as a phrase

used in connection with career development discussions.

MS. BLOOM: Yes, yes. I don't know whether it is

actually limited to Pfizer, but it was described to us as a

Pfizer term for the danger of actually raising these issues.

And there is also an example of a manager, who

identified issues and instructed her team not to do the conduct

but did not feel comfortable actually raising it up the chain

and ultimately left the company because of others who were so

vigorously pursuing some of this conduct. So it's a culture

where it is not comfortable at this time to actually identify
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the illegal conduct and protest or fix it.

I think that the evidence would have shown that Bextra

was produced in Puerto Rico, shipped all across the country;

that this conduct that we have described created new intended

uses for the product. The product was not labeled for those

uses, and therefore, that the product was misbranded; that this

conduct occurred with the intent to defraud and mislead, as

that is term is used in the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act,

including customers, in terms of the physicians who were making

the decisions.

(Discussion off the record.)

MS. BLOOM: Your Honor, the evidence further would

have shown, we believe, that there was a gain, a reasonable

estimate of the gain of $664 million.

THE COURT: And I take it that physicians and/or

hospitals were billing the state and federal programs for this

activity.

MS. BLOOM: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

Nr. O'Connor, do you want to annotate that before I

inquire of Mr. Gibney?

MR. O'CONNOR: Thank you, your Honor, I do. And I

think the first thing I want to say is that there is a lot that

Ms. Bloom has said that we do not agree with and we're not --

we don't accept either as a factual matter because we don1t
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have a basis to agree with what she has said or as a legal

matter she draws legal conclusions and inferences from evidence

with which we disagree. And I'll mention a few of those.

But before I do that, I do want to say, first off,

that Pharmacia is here, your Honor, prepared to enter a plea

because it is guilty of promoting off-label in violation of the

FDCA; and we don't want to, you know, minimize or draw from

that in any respect, and Mr. Gibney will follow through with

that.

So let me just say there is -- and I know the Court is

focused on is there a factual basis, is there evidence that

would support the plea, you know, all of the elements, and we

do agree that from February 2002 through April 2005 Pharmacia

promoted Bextra for uses that were not within Bextra's approved

label, including, particularly, acute pain and pre- and

postoperative surgical pain and opioid sparing in the context

of surgery.. And that Pharmacia also promoted Bextra at dosages

higher than the approved doses for certain indications. As a

result, we agree that Pharmacia introduced a drug into

interstate commerce that lacked adequate directions for these

off-label uses and dosages and was, thus, under the law, under

the FDCA misbranded. We also agree that in certain ways

Pharmacia promoted Bextra with an intent to defraud or mislead,

not nearly as broadly as Ms. Bloom has said, but we do agree

with that.

N
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/ For example, certain members of the Pharmacia sales

// force promoted Bextra with false and misleading claims,

including, for example, that Bextra had no dose proportional

increase in hypertension and edema, as Ms. Bloom said. In

addition, certain members of the Pharmacia sales force did

submit to their own supervisors false, fake requests indicating

that doctors had requested off-label information when, in fact,

they had not. And then there was follow-through in providing

medical information letters to those doctors.

So we're here to say there is a factual basis, your

Honor.

On the other hand, I do want to mention, you know, a

few things. I think that in large part Ms. Bloom has gone

through the different ways in which the government thinks the

company illegally, criminally promoted Bextra off-label, and I

just want to comment on some of that.

In the information you see references to consultant

meetings and advisory boards. And in large part, meetings did

occur such as those that are referenced, and some of them were

in nice places, the Bahamas, for example, Broadmoor in

Colorado. Others were in lots of places across the continental

United States. We do not draw the inferences of illegality

with respect to those meetings, at least in very, very

significant part that the government does. So while we say,

okay, there were meetings, the compatiy's intent was pure, to
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larn from the consultants, to get feedback from the physicians

who were participating in the ad boards.

THE COURT: And not to promote this? Not to promote

the off-label -- I'm interested, of course, in your views, but

you want me to believe that they were not intending to promote

the off-label uses?

MR. O'CONNOR: No, no, I'm saying generally, yes,

absolutely --

THE COURT:. So they did it at the Broadmoor in the

Bahamas and sometimes at the Holiday Inn in Kansas, but they

did it, right?

MR. O'CONNOR: But, your Honor, those meetings and

their purpose, they are customary, to a significant extent, and

they are opportunities for the company to get very legal and

viable and good feedback from physicians. I'm just saying --

THE COURT: And also engage in off-label promotions.

And that's what we're here for.

MR. O'CONNOR: Okay.

THE COURT: And I take it that there's no dispute that

during those meetings, wherever held, there were some efforts

to engage in off-label promotions.

MR. O'CONNOR: Your Honor, to some degree -- I'm not

going to say no with respect to all, but I am here to say that

the purpose and intent to a very significant degree with

respéct to those meetings was proper.
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THE COURT: But we're here about the portion, whether

significant degree or not, although the amount of money that

the company is prepared to pay suggests to a significant

degree, was improper.

14R. O'CONNOR: Yes.

THE COURT: So I guess I'm not sure that I need to

hear about all the proper things that the corporation did at

this point. That may affect the question of what the proper

sentence should be.

MR. O'CONNOR: Okay. Your Honor, then I'm just

going -- I just say that there are aspects of what the

government said, many aspects with which we don1t agree. And

I'll just mention one other, your Honor. Listen, the main

point of what I want to say is that the facts do support the

charge and especially with respect to acute pain and use of

Bextra in a surgical setting, there's no question about that.

With respect to the so-called publication strategy,

just for example, your Honor, I just -- we do not agree ith

respect to the illegality of that. The company did participate

with physicians who were very involved in the data supporting

certain articles that were written, in the writing of the

articles. The company did participate in creating articles

with respect to off-label indications. The company did also,

though, your Honor, in most every instance disclose and make it

known that it was participating --
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J. THE COURT: Disclosed to whom?

2 NR. O'CONNOR: In the article. In other words, the

3 company's participation is indicated --

4 THE COURT: You mean the authors of the articles

5 disclosed that.

6 NR. O'CONNOR: Yes.

7 THE COURT: And that's something that, at least most

8 credible peer-reviewed --

9 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes.

11:26 10 THE COURT: -- publications require.

11 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes, that's correct.

12 So, your Honor, really with respect to the recitation,

13 there is a basis in fact, and we fully accept responsibility,

14 the company does, and we're here totally voluntarily and

15 knowingly to enter the plea to the one charge.

16 THE COURT: Okay. Well, let me apply Occam's razor,

17 Mr. Gibney, given what Mr. O'Connor had to say. He agreed that

18 there was a factual basis. You heard the outlines of the forms

19 of evidence. Do you dispute the fundamental contention of the

11:27 20 government that your company engaged in illegal off-label

21 marketing, promotion of the drug Bextra?

22 MR. GIBNEY: I don't dispute it, your Honor.

23 THE COURT: And do you want to add anything to the

24 colloquy I had with Mr. O'Connor regarding this?

25 MR. GIBNEY: No, your Honor.
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THE COURT: Now, let me ask you this. We talked about

this plea agreement. It is important for me to determine

whether this is the entire agreement between you and the

government, including its -- the matters that are incorporated

by reference.

Is it the entire agreement between you and the

government to resolve the criminal matter with Pharmacia?

MR. O'CONNOR: Your Honor, from the standpoint of

Pharmacia and Upjohn, it's the entire agreement. There is an

agreement with Pfizer, the parent company, with regard to some

non-prosecution promises and it's a -- forgive me, the

letter --

(Pause.)

MR. O'CONNOR: Yes, your Honor, it's a letter between

the government and Pfizer. I'd like to hand it up, and we've

discussed it with the company.

THE COURT: Okay. This is not attached --

MR. O'CONNOR: It is not. It is not. It's a

three-page, I believe, letter.

THE COURT: Just so I understand fully, the letter

from Mr. Keeney of July 28th is local prosecution agreement for

Pharmacia and Upjohn, not for Pfizer.

MS. POSWISTILLO: The letter attached to the plea

agreement is just that.

THE COURT: So there's a separate letter involving
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1 Pfizer.

2 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes, it is.

3 THE COURT: Can you pass it up?

4 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes. It's five pages.

5 (Pause.)

6 THE COURT: Well, I think it should be in its full

7 form. I don't have Exhibit 3, which is a letter from the

8 Deputy Assistant Attorney General.

g MR. O'CONNOR: Okay. Your Honor, we'll get -- your

11:31 10

11

Honor, I'm sorry, we do not have that. We'll get it to you.

MS. POSWISTILLO: Your Honor, I have a copy.

12 THE COURT: It needs to be made part of the record in

13 this case in its full form. So I'll pass back the -- well, I

14 won't because it's already been filed.

15 MS. POSWISTILLO: This is it in its full form, your

16 Honor.

17 THE COURT: Okay.

18 (Pause.)

19 THE COURT: Well, I said it needs to be part of the

11:32 20 record. Why wasn't it included originally?

21 MS. BLOOM: Your Honor, I don't think there's -- I

22 apologize, I don't know why we didn't.

23 THE COURT: It's clearly material to the decision --

24 MS. BLOOM: It is material, and I apologize for not

25 filing it before.
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1 THE COURT: All right. This will be part of the

2 record, but you, Mr. Gibney, alerted me to it, and I take it

3 you were relying as well on this agreement here for the plea of

4 Pharmacia.

s MR. GIBNEY: Yes, your Honor. I was aware of it and

6 took into account all the circumstances in the totality of thìs

7 in our plea agreement.

8 THE COURT: Now, apart from your plea agreement and

9 this side letter in its full form that's been passed up here,

11:33 10 is there any other agreement upon which your corporation relies

11 in making its plea?

12 MR. GIBNEY: No, your Honor.

13 THE COURT: Did anybody threaten you in any way? And

14 when I say "threaten," I don't mean that there's a calculus

15 made about what impacts will be of settling. I mean did

16 somebody actually threaten you in some way or the corporation

17 to get you to plead guilty?

18 MR. GIBNEY: No, your Honor.

19 THE COURT: Did anybody promise you anything beyond

11:33 20 what's included here to get you to plead guilty?

21 MR. GIBNEY: No, your Honor.

22 THE COURT: Now, you're pleading guilty to an

23 information, which is a way for the government to proceed

24 directly against a party without going before the grand jury.

25 A grand jury is a group of citizens who from time to time tell
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the government they can't proceed to a criminal accusation. If

the grand jury tells the government they can't proceed, they

can't proceed. They can't go directly against an entity or an

individual here. The grand jury consists of 23 individuals, it

needs 12 people to agree upon that, and it functions as a

screen sometimes for cases. That means that under our

Constitution the citizens ultimately can make the determination

about whether or not the government goes forward on serious

criminal charges. I take it that you've discussed with your

counsel the role of the grand jury and its impact here; is that

correct?

MR. GIDNEY: I have.

THE COURT: And you understand that by entering into

the waiver of indictment, which has been passed up to me, the

formal waiver of indictment, signed by you and witnessed by

Mr. O'Connor, that you're letting the government go directly

against you without having a grand jury make that determination

of whether or not the government has established the probable

cause to believe that you've engaged in this violation.

MR. GIDNEY: I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So you're prepared to give up that

constitutional right for that other process that makes it

possible for -- or makes it a requirement that the government

satisfy at least a grand jury before they can go forward.

MR. GIBNEY: Yes.
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THE COURT: Ms. Bloom, do you know any reason why I

shouldn't receive the plea? And I'll tell you what I'm going

to do, I'll listen to the parties, but my inclination is that I

should hear or provide the opportunity for victims. It appears

on the structure of the agreement that those who might be

considered victims have received the equivalent of -- not the

equivalent of, but recompense, whether it's fully or not is

another matter, but in any event, recompense that would exceed

anything that could be provided here by way of restitution.

Nevertheless, the purpose of the Victim Witness Act is to make

sure that the Court hears voices of people that were impacted

before imposing a sentence. And so my disposition would be to

schedule sentencing in the future.

Second, I'm not going to accept the plea at this time.

I'm similarly going to take the plea, or ask Mr. Lovett to take

the plea, and then I will wait until the time of sentencing.

The third is, I am indisposed to engage the probation

office in a presentence report here in light of the structure

of the arrangements and the extended discussion that we Tve had

here. There is no question on the record that alternative

mechanisms for calculating the guidelines might be available

here, certainly the base figure of gross gain. But rather than

divert the resources of the probation office in preparing a

presentence report as to a corporation that is at least

publicly held, owned by a publicly held company, I just don't
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see it, unless the parties have some view about that.

So it would seem to me that we could schedule the

sentencing 30 days out. I would make two points: One, I think

the entire agreement, I assume that that's going to be put in

the notification process, Ms. Bloom.

MS. BLOOM: I think the way it's usually done is an

attachment or direction to the Pacer document, but I can

request --

THE COURT: That's fine as well, but I think, then, I

do want to have included a transcript of these proceedings --

MS. BLOOM: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: -- as well, and that has Pacer

implications here, but I will look to the parties to order from

the court reporter on an expedited basis, that is, seven days,

the transcript. I speak for the court reporter when I don't

ask her ahead of time, but I think that's agreeable. But I

think that that should be made publicly available. It evades

some of the limitations of Pacer, but I think its timeliness

requires that it be done in that fashion. So you'll order on

an expedited basis. And that will be included, not from Pacer,

because it will be difficult to get it from Pacer, but as a

separate document made --

MS. BLOOM: I will request that it be posted on our

victim notice system. And I will, of course, have to seek the

authorization to approve the expedited transcript.
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